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Salubrity Hall

SALUBRITY HALL,once the winter retreat of the wealthy northerners Olivia and
John Herbert, is an exceptional example of a Country Place—cra estate developed in the
Summerville area of Augusta in the late 1920s. The site is also significant for its story
of rebirth in the twenty-first century, thanks to the careful attention of the current
owners, Raron and Don Williamson, and the landscape architect William T, Smirth. The
property is appropriately named Salubrity Hall both because of its historical roots as a
salubrious site and because it is conducive to the well-being of irs residents and all who
are tortunate to experience its beauty.

Augusta, the second-oldest and currently the second-largest city in Georgia, was
established on the western bank of the Savannah River in 1736. By the late 1700s,
it had become a thriving manufacturing center. The city played an important role
in the American Revolution and later served as the temporary capital of the new
state of Georgia between 1785 and 1795." Augusta was home to a large inland cotton
market. Local farmers brought their cotton to the city to be shipped to the port of
Savannah via boats down the Savannah River, or to Charleston, South Carolina, by
rail. Augusta continued to prosper in the antebellum period because of improvements
in transportation. Completed in 1845, the Augusta Canal, a source of water, power, and
transportation, attracted corton mills, ironworks, and other manufacturers along its
banks, making Augusta one of the few industrial centers in the South. 'The year 1845
brought a railroad link between Augusta and Adanta, connecting the city with more
markets around the count r:.',Tn support the war cffort, the Confederate Powder Works
was established, I was a critical |'n-t'-t:-{|l_u_‘::r of ammunition for the Confederates {itl.l"mg
the Civil War. Augusta’s economy rebounded from the war with the expansion of the

Augusta Canal in 1875, which brought the construction of large textile mills and
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Quatrefoil
fountain in the

west garden

brickwork, stonework, urns, and statuary that lent an
air of age.

Olivia placed the formal, rectangular garden on
the west side of the mansion. Its main feature was
a large quatrefoil-shaped pool and fountain that
sat at the center of an open grass lawn; the pool’s
edges were punctuated by four urns. One side of
the garden held a “weeping willow drooping over a
semi-circular marble seat,” and another contained a
brick patio with an impressive rose-covered pergola
made of antique columns and flanked by old iron
grillwork. The back of the pergola was composed of
“weather-beaten brick, with a niche for a leaden fig-
ure of a boy holding a tray of flowers.” The north

side of the garden contained a decorative balustrade

overlooking a bronze dragonfly fountain, which was
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“cleverly screened on two sides by a graduated plant-
ing of junipers and yews.” The formal garden was
filled with a large collection of irises.

Brick steps from the formal garden descended
to a boxwood-bordered walk that led to the sunken
garden. The sunken garden featured a small pool
bordered by irregular rocks surrounded by large old
English boxwood. The two additional formal gardens
were located behind the mansion. A rose-draped
pergola led to the rose garden, which contained, at
its center, a Swedish porcelain fountain surrounded
by plantings of low-growing junipers and blue hya-
cinths.'” Adjacent to it was the rectangular arabesque
garden, framed by two rows of flowering crab trees.
It had a central lawn flanked on each side by plant-

ing beds laid out in arabesque patterns of scrolling

Formally planted herb garden in a corner of the

west garden

and interlacing ornamental designs. These beds ran
north to south and were filled with perennials and
bulbs, including narcissi, tulips, and irises."

Olivia placed the wild garden on the far north-
east corner of the estate, beneath a wooded area of
the property filled with native pines and oaks. A
winding dirt path through the garden led to a siz-
able one-room Tudor Revival-style structure that
served as a teahouse where the Herberts could
serve light refreshments to guests. The path was
bordered by native shrubs, including yaupon (ZZex
vomitoria), Carolina cherry laurel (Prunus carolini-
ana), mountain laurel (Ka/mia latifolia), and flame
azaleas (Rhododendron calendulaceum). Closer to
the teahouse were masses of Indian and Kurume
azaleas.” Many types of bulbs were naturalized
throughout the woods, and Carolina jessamine and
woodbine climbed many of the trees.

During her nearly two decades of wintering at
Salubrity Hall, Olivia Herbert generously opened
her gardens to the public to benefit local chari-
ties. For an event for the Woman’s Auxiliary of St.
Paul's Church in March 1935, the Augusta Chronicle

announced to its readers: “Flower lovers in Augusta

Rose-covered pergola in the west garden

will welcome the opportunity tomorrow to enjoy
the beautiful informal and formal gardens of Mrs.
John W. Herbert at Salubrity Hall. Mrs. Herbert is
being most gracious in giving Augustans and visi-
tors a chance to enjoy the lovely flowers which are

»3

now in full bloom in her garden.”” The property was
included on many garden tours throughout the 1930s
and 1940s, including the Garden Club of Georgia’s
pilgrimages between 1937 and 1941."

Salubrity Hall went up for sale in April 1946.
Olivia Herbert had died the previous August at the
age of eighty-two, eleven years after the death of her
husband. The listing in the Augusta Chronicle adver-
tised it as “the famous winter home and garden of
the late Mrs. Olivia A. Herbert in Augusta, Georgia,
and one of the most outstanding in the entire
Southland.” Between 1947 and 2002, the estate
changed hands nine times, and as the decades rolled
by, most of Olivia Herbert’s formal and informal
gardens were lost. In the late 1940s or early 1950s,
the wild garden and the wooded areas were subdi-
vided into smaller lots, including the northeastern
corner containing the teahouse. During that period,
the building was enlarged into a single-family home
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White blooming annuals

and perennials in the

west garden

that maintained the Tudor Revival style of the origi-

nal structure. Elizabeth Robinson Anderson and her
husband currently live in the former teahouse; she
grew up there, and in 2007 she inherited it from her
parents, Clara and Frank Robinson Jr., who had pur-
chased it in 1959."

In 2003, Karon and Don Williamson, the current
owners of Salubrity Hall, purchased the remain-
ing portion of the property containing the mansion,
roughly three acres. By that point, time had taken its
toll on both the house and the gardens. Their first pri-
ority was to restore the once-elegant English Tudor
country home to its 1920s grandeur, which was a sig-

nificant undertaking because of the complexity of the

architecture. The Williamsons restored the large car-

riage house and stabilized the caretaker’s cottage. They

turned their attention to the gardens in the summer of

2006, hiring Bill Smith, an Atlanta landscape archi-
tect and owner of William T, Smith and Associates,
which specializes in residential garden design. Over
the past twelve years, Smith and the Williamsons
have collaborated on reviving what remained of the
original gardens and designing a series of new garden

rooms that echo elements of the past while meeting

twenty-first-century needs. Smith used a blend of

historic plants with newer cultivars.
When the Williamsons purchased the prop-

erty, the large oval lawn in the center of the broad
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semicircular drive was filled with a group of tre
that obscured the house. Smith suggested they
be removed so that the impressive front fagade
would be visible, as it was dur ia Herbert’s
day. He called it “the best five-minute > he
has ever given.”” The oval lawn is now surrounded
by a low-clipped boxwood hedge. The brick gutter
and curb running along the front drive were also
restored.

The most intact historic g remaining on the
property was the formal garden on the west side
of the mansion. Smith restored the surviving his-
toric features, including the quatrefoil-shaped pool
with fountain and surrounding lawn, the brick patio
with its brick wall and iron grillwork, and the bal-
ustrade. The Williamsons outfitted the patio with
a wrought-iron table and chairs for outdoor enter-

taining. Smith designed a number of new elements

spired by the original garden features. In place of

the original four urns that stood at the edges of the

pool, Smith added four large round planters filled

now-lost dragonfly bronze statue has been replac
h} one ﬂ::lturmg two :lng IS‘

Smith added a stunning semicircular white gar-
den on the far western edge of the formal garden
f shrubs such as slender deutzia
‘Nikko’), gardenias

minoides ‘Frost Proof” and ‘Grif’s Select’), hydran-

with an arra
(Deutzia g (Gardenia jas-

niculata ‘Lime Light’, ‘Quick
Fire’, and “Tardiva’), tea olives nanthus fragrans),
spireas (Spiraea prunifolia ‘Plena’ and Spiraea x
s (Rbododendron

serrulatum), roses (Rosa ‘Iceberg’), and a variety of

vanhout hammo et azal
viburnums. The white garden, located on the west
side of the formal garden, is also home to numer-
ous white-flowering perennials, including asters,
clematis, daisies, daylilies, dianthus, garden phlox
and verbena. Seasonal color come

nosa ‘Helen Campbell’, Queen A

carota), delphinium (Delphinium ‘Galahad’), f
gloves (Digi (

White'), salvia (Salvia coccinea ‘Snow Nymp

garden, from Garden

/ia ‘Crystal White."

Smith added a parterre herb garden inside the for-

with Boston ferns. No photo documentation exists Zinnia a

showing the design of the original rose-covered p

gola. Nonethe Smith climbed up the brick wall mal garden adjacent to the house; Karon Williamson WRRUNRURI, S—

to determine the original anchor points and created 's cooking with fresh herbs. In ing with perennial garden to

an elaborate pergola in scale with the mansion.” The the original brickwork found on the property, Smith the east
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to the brick patio on the east side of the house, which

features a restored wall fountain. Smith continued
the use of brickwork in the perennial garden: a brick-
lined pathway frames the gardens outer perime-
ter and bisects the garden from the east and west
entrances. The center of the perennial garden consists
of a lawn sculpted into three overlapping circles, the
largest at the center. Deep perennial borders, much
like those of the famed early twentieth-century
English garden designer and horticulturist Gertrude
Jekyll, flank the lawn; they are planted with peren-
nials in complementary cool colors of blues, pur-
ples, pinks, and whites. Several varieties of foxgloves
emerge strikingly in early summer.

As it has been since its earliest days, Salubrity
Hall continues to be admired for its noteworthy
architecture and gardens. In 2008, the Williamsons

received a preservation award from Historic Augusta

tor their restoration of the mansion. Because of

its architecture and importance in the history of

Augusta, Salubrity Hall is a contributing site to
the Summerville Historic District. Listed in the
National Register of Historic Places, the district
claims one of the most extensive collections of his-
toric residences and gardens in the state 0chm‘gia,
displaying myriad architectural and landscape styles
and periods. The Williamsons have upheld Olivia
Herbert’s tradition of opening the gardens to the
public for the benefit of local groups. In 2014, they
hosted Historic Augusta’s famous Cotton Ball,
which supports the organization’s mission “to pre-
serve historically or architecturally significant sites
in Augusta and Richmond County, Georgia.””
With the restoration of the mansion and the revival
of its gardens, Salubrity Hall once again emanates

elegant charm.
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